Public Document Pack

Simon W. Baker B.Ed MBA MISPAL
Chief Executive

SERVICE DELIVERY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL AGENDA
Date:

Wednesday, 20 November 2019

Time:

7.00 pm

Venue:

The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek
12 November 2019

PART 1
1.

Apologies.

2.

To approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting. (Pages 3 - 14)

3.

Urgent Items of Business, if any. (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman).

4.

Notification of Substitute Members, if any.

5.

Declaration of Interests:


6.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Other Interests

Questions to Portfolio Holders, if any.
(At least two clear days notice required, in writing, to the Proper Officer in
accordance with Procedure Rule 15).

7.

Leisure Centre Performance Update - Alex Godfrey, Regional Director, Parkwood
Leisure. (Presentation) (Pages 15 - 36)

8.

Leisure Centre Options (Pages 37 - 48)

9.

Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme Update. (Pages 49 - 62)

10.

Housing Need and Demographics Presentation. (Pages 63 - 70)

11.

Markets Terms and Conditions (Pages 71 - 78)

12.

Work Programme (Pages 79 - 80)
Any additional items to be added to the Work Programme:
 Chair’s Items
 Members’ Items

13.

Exclusion of the Press and Public.
The Chair to move:“That pursuant to Section 100A (2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that exempt information
as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public in breach
of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 100I (1)
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the
paragraphs indicated.”

14.

Exempt Minutes from the Previous Meeting. (Pages 81 - 82)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Membership of Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel
Councillor R Ward (Chair)
Councillor I Herdman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor G Bentley
Councillor C Brady
Councillor J Davies
Councillor P Elkin
Councillor B Emery
Councillor K Flunder
Councillor A Hart
Councillor N Hawkins
Councillor K Hoptroff
Councillor L Page
Councillor H Plimley
Councillor D Price
Councillor J Redfern
Councillor P Roberts
Councillor J Salt
Councillor H Sheldon MBE

Agenda Item 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

SERVICE DELIVERY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
PANEL MEETING
Minutes
WEDNESDAY, 25 SEPTEMBER 2019
PRESENT:

Councillor R Ward (Chair)
Councillors G Bentley, J Davies, B Emery, K Flunder, N Hawkins,
I Herdman, K Hoptroff, L Page, D Price, J Redfern, P Roberts,
J Salt and H Sheldon MBE.

72

ALSO PRESENT:

Councillor K J Jackson, I Whitehouse, J Porter and S Scalise.

APOLOGIES:

Councillors C Brady, P Elkin, A Hart and H Plimley.

NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS, IF ANY.
Councillor Jackson was substitute member for Councillor Brady and Councillor
Whitehouse was substitute member for Councillor Elkin.

73

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING.
DECIDED – That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Panel held on 3 July 2019 be
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

74

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS, IF ANY. (24 HOURS NOTICE TO BE
PROVIDED TO THE CHAIRMAN).
There were none.

75

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS:Agenda No.

Member Declaring
Interest

Nature of Interest

Item 9 and 10
-

Wharf Road
Strategic
Development
Tunstall Road
Masterplan

Item 9
-

Wharf Road
Strategic
Development Site

Cllrs Davies, Emery,
Flunder, Hoptroff,
Roberts and
Whitehouse.

Other – Members of the
Planning Applications
Committee.

Cllr Flunder

Other – County
Councillor for this area.

Page 3
1

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019

Cllr Salt

Item 13
-

76

Acquisition
Strategy

Cllr Jackson

Other – Son attends the
school which has use of
the playing fields.
Other – Friend of the
owner of the Mill
Quarter, Leek.

QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS, IF ANY.
Question from Councillor Hoptroff:
Q1.

Wheelchair and mobility scooter uses have several problems around Leek
Town centre and no doubt around the rest of the Moorlands. One of these is
the lack of accessible toilets at night. Several pubs and restaurants have no
disabled toilets, mostly due to the layout of the properties being in old
buildings that can’t be adapted. This restricts users in their choices of venues
to visit and visiting the town centre at night in general.
Is it possible and feasible to open up disabled toilets at night with Radar key
access? I know this may not be possible on Silk Street without a lot of cost
and alterations to the shutters. But where possible and with the planned
refurbishment of the bus station toilets could this be an option?
This will go some way into creating a wheelchair friendly town.

Response:
The door is going to be widened to modern standards for disabled or
“accessible” users and will be accessed with a radar key during normal
opening hours. The override lock is electric and automatic and therefore there
is potential to programme this to close later than the current closing time of
the WCs – 6pm.
However, we do have longstanding issues of anti-social use of these WCs.
Radar keys themselves may not keep the accessible WCs exclusive as they
are easily purchased online. Anyone with a radar key would have access.
When the new WCs open, we could trial a later opening of this particular toilet
until say 11pm for a period, but I think we would have to see how this goes. If
the WCs are being misused and vandalised we would probably need to revert
to closing them earlier again.
By way of supplementary questions, Councillor Hoptroff asked which toilets
this response related to and when the works would be completed.
Councillor Scalise advised that this response related to the bus station toilets,
the quotes for the work had recently been received and a date for the
commencement of the works would be emailed to members.

Page 4
2

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
Question from Councillor Cawley:
Q2.

I note a report a few days ago in the national press about physical activity and
health outcomes. The report indicated that even a small increase in physical
activity among older people can improve health and increase longevity
reducing the possibility of use of primary and acute health services resulting in
considerable savings to the NHS.
I further note that SMDC has in place a Physical Activity and Sport StrategyTowards an active Staffordshire Moorlands 2017 and beyond I am assuming
that the document became policy in October 2016.
Given that its 3 years into the strategy I wondered how the targets in the three
year old report are being met? And if the objectives referred to in the report
are not being met what obstacles exist impeding their progress
Response:
This Councils Sport & Physical Activity strategy,“Towards an active
Staffordshire Moorlands 2017-2021” was adopted by Cabinet in June 2017,
an update was then provided to this Committee in September 2018 detailing
our progress in its first year.
Our strategy seeks during its life to encourage 4,000 more residents to
become active, identifies key areas of priority as: women and girls, people
with a limiting illness or disability, people aged 55 years and over, people in
lower social grades and children and young people (aged 5 to 18). In addition
we have committed to delivering based approaches to increase activity levels
in six areas; Leek (North), Biddulph (East), Cheadle, Forsbrook, Cellarhead
and Endon.
A method of monitoring is difficult, one method is by using the Sport England
Active Lives Survey, which is undertaken every year and based is on
questionnaire responses from a random sample size of 1,000 people. Data for
2018-19 is unfortunately not yet available but we do know that:



the percentage of residents classed as inactive (those who are active 30
mins or less per week) fell in 2017-18 to 33.3% of our population, from
34.8% in 2015-16.
the percentage of residents classed as being active (those who undertake
150 mins of activity or more per week) rose to 56.7% in 2017-18 from
52.5% in 2015-16.

There is a vast amount of work happening across the Staffordshire Moorlands
to address physical activity levels and targets. In 2018-19, we also:





increased the attendance levels at our leisure centres in 2018-19 to
899,510 attendances from 898,096 in 2017-18 (please note the 2018-19
figures were affected by some site closures for essential maintenance
works),
supported four voluntary organisations or clubs in obtaining funding for
projects,
obtained £50,000 ourselves in external funding,

Page 5
3

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019





supported the delivery of a skate park and play area for Cheadle Town
Council at the Tean Rd recreation ground,
installed a new skate park at Brough Park,
continued to support our Sports Councils and refreshed this work including
revising our sports grants scheme,
completed an initial review of our leisure facilities, this has informed us as
these should be improved in the future, further work will continue on this
project, a report is due to be presented to this Committee in November
providing a further update.

To deliver our strategy we need to create new and improve on existing
partnerships, we will continue to work with our sports clubs, associations and
volunteers as all play a key part in supporting our aspirations to change
behaviour and encourage increased activity levels.
An update report from Officers is scheduled in the forward plan for this Panel,
this will provide a more comprehensive update on all the excellent work being
undertaken and give a clearer picture of the progress being made, whilst
enabling members to challenge and scrutinise accordingly.
Questions from Councillor Yates:
Q3.

The Biddulph Town Council Neighbourhood Plan Working Group is aware
that a letter was sent from Urban Vision to Dai Larner querying a number of
issues in relation to the development of the Local Plan. Concern was raised
about the apparent disparities between the two documents, despite a number
of opportunities for officers to be engaged with the process. To date, no
response has been received by the consultant. As a statutory planning body,
the Working Group is particularly interested in the following point:
We are concerned that relevant evidence supplied to officers in February and
again in May has not been taken into account. This includes the Staffordshire
Wildlife Trust ecological and environmental mapping, which provides more
detailed and up-to-date information than the evidence that SMDC is using,
which dates from 2015-2016.
Will all this information be acknowledged and submitted by SMDC as part of
Local Plan information sent to the Inspector to enable him to make the correct
decision?
Response:
Officers have engaged with the Town Council on the preparation of the Local
Plan and Neighbourhood Plan. Consultation on modifications to the Local
Plan will commence shortly. Consultees will be able to submit supporting
information to their responses for consideration by the Inspector provided that
they relate to the modifications to the Local Plan.

Q4.

We understand that the country parks and open green spaces owned by
SMDC are in the process of being transferred to the Staffordshire Wildlife
Trust: What is the progress on the transfer, and can you provide a
comprehensive list of the land affected?

Page 6
4

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
Response:
We are pursuing the management transfer of eleven sites to the Staffordshire
Wildlife Trust. The project will deliver approximately £54,000 per annum of
savings to this authority by reducing the overall management cost of the sites.
In transferring the management to this charitable organisation, who specialise
in conservation and wildlife management, the sites will benefit from their
expertise and ability to tap into funding pots not open to local authorities to
further improve these sites.
The sites proposed to transfer under this arrangement are as follows:
 Biddulph Grange Country Park
 Ladderedge Country Park
 Wetley Moor Common SSSI
 Brough Park Fields LNR
 Marshes Hill Common LNR and SBI
 Cecily Brook LNR
 Hales Hall Pool LNR
 Whitemoor LNR
 Hoften’s Cross LNR and SBI
 Biddulph Valley Way
 Newpool Meadows
There are no plans to transfer the management of any other open spaces to
the Wildlife Trust.
The transfer of management to SWT is dependent on them taking over the
management for all eleven sites. Wetley Moor is a site jointly owned by
SMDC and SOTCC, and whilst SOTCC Officers have advised they would be
happy to transfer the freehold of this site to SMDC, member approval for the
transfer is yet to be obtained. We have obtained agreement with Brown Edge
Parish Council in regards to Marshes Hill Common enabling this site to be
included in the transfer plans. We are working with Biddulph Town Council to
develop a lease for the operation and management of the visitor centre at
Biddulph Grange Country Park, the remainder of the site will transfer to SWT.
All other sites are in the direct control and ownership of SMDC.
In order to complete the project and deliver the savings target, we will
continue to work with colleagues at SOTCC to enable the transfer to occur.
77

ALLIANCE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES (AES) ANNUAL PERFORMANCE
PRESENTATION.
Kevin Melling and Jane Thomason from Alliance Environmental Services, introduced
a presentation on the following subject areas:






Introduction
Financial Summary
Key Performance Indicators 2018-19
Waste Performance
Strategic Outlook
Page 7
Employee Success
5

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019






Community Engagement
Waste Service Transformation
Trials of Lower Carbon Fleet
External Outlook
Summary and Next Steps

Members asked where plastics collected by the Council were sent to and in
response, the Panel was advised that as recyclables were a commodity, the location
changed on a monthly basis but in general they were sent to places in the UK and
Europe. Items which could not be recycled were processed at the incinerator in
Stoke which produced electricity.
Queries were raised around the strength of the signal for the in-cab technology and if
there was the capability for these systems to record pot holes and send the
information to the County Council. It was confirmed that the technology was being
developed, there were some areas where the signal was weak but overall, the in-cab
technology could record real time information. The management and volume of the
data which could be recorded and provided to the County Council was an issue at
present.
Discussion took place around the use of hydrogen to power vehicles, household
waste recycling centres, increased engagement with universities and businesses
and community engagement.
Members asked if there were plans for the Council’s Grounds Maintenance to be
transferred to AES and if the size of the bins which contained the non recyclable
waste at HPBC had been reduced. Officers explained that the final phase of the
transfer to AES would incorporate the Grounds Maintenance and Street Cleansing
services. A decision had not been made to change the size of the bin referred to at
HPBC and as the recycling performance was lower, staff raised awareness and
encouraged residents to make behavioural changes in relation to their refuse.
It had been brought to some members’ attention that there was a possibility of green
waste being chargeable and food waste to be collected separately. Some members
thought that all types of waste should be reduced, and were concerned about the
variety of plastics used and if there could be any uniformity. At present, there were
no aspirations to change collection methodology, there wouldn’t be any major
changes to the Refuse Collection Service until the national strategy was fully
understood and this Panel would have the opportunity to scrutinise any proposals.
The Government were trying to address uniformity of services across the Country
and the possible taxation of plastic producers.
The composting process and education for those people which disposed of their
refuse incorrectly was also explained to the Panel.
A Councillor enquired if the Christmas collection dates had been prepared and how
residents would access this information. Nicola Kemp advised, that this information
was currently being prepared and would be available on the Council’s website and
sent to Parish Councils.
The Panel was reminded of the visit to the Materials Recovery Facility at Shotton in
Deeside.

Page 8
6

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
Members congratulated the representatives from AES on the performance of the
organisation and the Chair gave his thanks for the informative presentation and
thorough responses to questions.
DECIDED: That the presentation be noted.
78

ALLIANCE
REPORT.

ENVIRONMENTAL

SERVICES

ANNUAL

PERFORMANCE

The purpose of the report is to brief the Panel on the performance of Alliance
Environmental Services Ltd (AES) during 2018/19.
Since 1st July 2018 waste collection, waste communications and fleet services had
all been delivered by AES.
Performance reports together with supporting evidence were issued to the Service
Commissioning team on a monthly basis to enable the AES’s performance to be
monitored. Monthly contract meetings were held with officers of the Council and
AES, at these the monthly performance reports were reviewed and discussed in
detail to ensure performance was on track to meet the agreed target.
In addition, two AES Commissioning Board meetings were held during each financial
year. These meetings were attended by the Council’s Portfolio Holder for the
Environment and High Peak Borough Council’s Executive Councillor for Climate
Change, Environment and Community Safety. The board meeting held on the 15th
August enabled attendees to challenge AES in regards to their previous year’s
performance ahead of their attendance at this Panel.
A total of eight Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) were monitored for waste
services in 2018/19 and an additional six for fleet management. The key results to
note in 2018/19 were detailed within the report.
DECIDED:
79

That the Panel NOTED the performance of Alliance Environmental
Services Ltd (AES) during 2018/19.

WHARF ROAD STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT SITE
(Councillor Roberts left the room as he had declared an “other” interest)
Sara Porru, Head of Regeneration introduced a report which informed Councillors of
the Wharf Road masterplan, which had been prepared to assist with the delivery of
the emerging Local Plan.
As part of the Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme, Sanderson Weatherall
were commissioned in September 2018 to complete a masterplan for the Wharf
Road Strategic Development area identified in the emerging Local Plan (DSB1).
The basis for commissioning the masterplan was based on several objectives:




Assist delivery of the Local Plan
Bring together the landowners with a co-ordinated vision
for the site
Devise a Page
strategic
9 vision for the site which could then be
7

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
promoted to developers and investors.
As part of the masterplan process, a review of the housing market found limited
interest from private sector developers. The research suggested that this was due to
Biddulph being a secondary location in comparison to larger towns such as
Congleton and Tunstall which offered more amenities and job opportunities.
Consequently, the consultants found the sales rates anticipated for new build at
Wharf Road would be slightly lower given its rural location and poor public transport
links. The consultants also identified it was possibly not a lack of demand, but also
lack of development opportunities. No land had been allocated for new residential
development since the 1998 Local Plan. The emerging Local Plan identified suitable
land for 3802 homes across the whole the Staffordshire Moorlands over the Local
Plan period.
Three options were developed for the site, in line with the emerging Local Plan DSB1 policy.
The options focused, not on what should be delivered in terms of residential dwellings or
mix, but where on the site it should be located.
Options 1 & 2 focused the retail/ employment element of the scheme to the north of the site,
whilst option 3 identified an area in the south of the site for this use.

The Council’s preferred option 3 would potentially deliver approximately 471
residential units (including land to the east of Meadow Way) and an additional 145
residential dwellings with the land at BDNEW. Subsequently,
following post
hearing comments from the Local Plan Inspector in December 2018, the area of land
known as BDNEW, which lies to the West of the Biddulph Valley Way had been
deleted by the Council (in June 2019) as a Local Plan allocation. The Wharf Road
Masterplan had already been commissioned and was nearing completion before the
inspector sent his comments to the Council. The completed masterplan therefore
recognised this change by providing two options, including and excluding BDNEW.
Some Members felt that discussions should still take place with land owners and
were keen to have a better understanding of the areas of land which had caused
difficulties. The Panel was advised, that it was not appropriate to discuss ownership
of land in a public meeting.
Discussion took place around the old school site, County Council’s involvement,
location of the retail area and extra care units and access points. Members from the
Biddulph area stressed the importance of the retail element of the site being
positioned at the North of the site.
A Member of the Panel was pleased that this masterplan had come forward but had
concerns about openness and wished to ensure that local people and Councillors
were involved in the process. In his opinion, the development site didn’t fit in with the
Neighbourhood Plan for Biddulph and Officers advised that the plan for Wharf Road
was inline with the polices set out in the Local Plan. A meeting would take place in
Biddulph in relation to masterplans as they would be subject to consultation, if
adopted.
Councillor Salt was very worried about the alleged sale of land owned by the County
Council and requested that it was noted that she didn’t support the masterplan for
the Wharf Road development site due to the BDNEW site and the playing fields.

Page 10
8

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
Officers were asked if this masterplan would be reviewed independently and Officers
advised the Panel, that it wouldn’t be subject to a public enquiry. If the masterplan
was recommended for adoption, further public consultation would take place,
followed by a decision made at a meeting of Full Council.
DECIDED:

80

1)

That the comments made by Members of the Panel in
relation to this masterplan were NOTED by Officers;

2)

The Panel RECOMMENDED CABINET NOTED the
findings of the masterplan and at this time do not commission further work.

TUNSTALL ROAD MASTERPLAN.
The Panel gave its consideration to a report which informed Councillors of the
Tunstall Road masterplan, which had been prepared to assist with the delivery of the
emerging Local Plan.
As part of the Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme, Sanderson Weatherall
were commissioned in September 2018 to complete a masterplan for the Tunstall
Road Strategic Development area identified in the emerging Local plan for a mixed
use development. The basis for commissioning the masterplan was based on
several objectives contained within the report.
The masterplan suggested the site was most suited to a housing mix of two and
three-bedroom medium to high density dwellings which needed to incorporate the
projected 33% affordable housing. The research highlighted a lower level in demand
for social rented properties than ownership and therefore suggests that the
affordable housing provision may be better suited to ownership options such as
shared ownership and staircasing.
The masterplan also considered that delivery of the adjacent industrial site provided
evidence of market demand and developer interest for employment use and that this
allocation could be effectively considered as the next phase of employment
development in this location. Knowledge gained from business enquiries and the
businesses expressing interest in Victoria Business Park suggested a range of
industrial unit sizes from 2,000- 10,000 sqft could be delivered on this site.
Three options were developed for the site, in line with the emerging Local Plan DSB3 policy.
Details of each option were provided in the Executive Summary at Appendix 1.

Following a review of the advantages and disadvantages of each scheme; analysis
of the options relevant to the strategic objectives of the brief; and a review of the
information event feedback option 03 had been chosen as the preferred option.
Details of the preferred option were included within the report.
The masterplan also considered viability of development and a strategy for delivery.
This considered opportunities for promotion of a private led scheme with some level
of public sector support. Land assembly options were also considered. The site was
within several ownerships and further engagement with landowners may be
necessary to move forward with delivery.

Page 11
9

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
The delivery strategy issues highlighted at 3.7 of the report would be considered and
a further report would be presented to this Panel recommending actions required to
bring forward development.
Some Members of the Panel raised their concerns in relation to the public
consultation for this site, in particular for the residents of Victoria Row and felt that
their comments hadn’t been taken into account. In response, the Officers advised
that a high proportion of the residents from Victoria Row had responded to the
consultation. Overall, 3 separate sessions were held which resulted in 293
comments, and 243 of these were supportive.
Clarification on the evidence for Option 3 to indicate that this option was the most
viable was requested. It was explained that a full business case analysis had been
undertaken which set out which option was most financially viable and attractive to
potential developers. Members would also have the opportunity to scrutinise the
masterplan after the Local Plan Enquiry had taken place.
Councillor Salt requested that it was noted that she didn’t agree that Option 3 was
the best option for this development site. Further details on the number of Victoria
Row residents which had expressed Option 3 as their preferred option was also
requested. Details would be provided after the meeting.
The following comments were also made by Councillors:





That the access to the industrial area was in the correct location;
The boundary screening may not be adequate;
Two access roads off Mill Hayes Road were not necessary;
For the industrial units to be moved further away from the residential areas;
The scheme was unimaginative, there was a lack of connectivity and active
frontages were needed.

DECIDED: The Panel NOTED the findings of the Tunstall Road masterplan.
81

WORK PROGRAMME
The Panel considered it Work Programme and agreed the items listed.
DECIDED: That the Work Programme for 2019-20 be agreed.

82

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC.
DECIDED:That pursuant to Section 100A (2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that exempt information
as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public in breach
of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 100I (1)
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the
paragraphs indicated

83

INVESTMENT AND ACQUISITION STRATEGY.

Page 12
10

Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 25 September 2019
The Panel considered a report which updated Councillors on the findings and
recommendations of an Investment and Acquisition Strategy.
The meeting closed at 9.20 pm

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Page 13
11

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

Regional Director
Area Manager
- Centre Manager, Brough Park Leisure Centre

Total UK H&F membership has exceeded 10 million for the ﬁrst time, with over 15% of the population
now members of a Health & Fitness Facility

●

The regional picture is mixed with a penetration of 12.3% in the North West

●

Gyms are now competing with the at-home ﬁtness revolution, boutique studios and tech-enabled
ﬁtness (such as wearables, live-streaming and virtual).

●

Low cost operators remain strong within the market with 40% of total members. Pure Gym grew by 15%
in 2019 and now has 250 Clubs.

●

Levels of inactivity are reducing, with 116,400 reduction in England in 2018 according to Sport England
Stats.

●

Types of activity are changing with 739,000 more people walking, but 360,00 fewer swimming
compared to 12 months ago

●

Recent stories in the media show some of the challenges relating to facilities - 58% of sports halls and
60% of swimming pools are more than 20 years old. A quarter of these have never been refurbished. The
total number of facilities has dropped below 4,000 for the ﬁrst time since 2010.

●

Ever greater focus on technology both for operators and also for consumers - 65% of customers book
online through the web or an app.

●

High inﬂation rates, Living Wage/ NEST pensions and signiﬁcant increases in utility costs have all led to
challenges for operators.

Page 16

●

●

An operational change with the subcontract to Lex Leisure CIC commencing in April 2019. This
came with a £500k saving to the Authority per annum.

●

New swimming lesson layout introduced at all 3 swimming pools - has reduced waiting list
numbers by over 20% YTD enabling a greater number of classes at beginner level.

●

Redecoration of all 3 Centres including updated colour schemes. These works will continue into
2020.

Page 17

●

New marketing and signage at all 3 centres. Marketing moving away from brands to advertising
your local leisure centre.

●

All 3 centres have had a number of resistance and weights machines replaced.

●

3G pitch installed at Brough Park has seen numbers and pitch bookings grow by over 50%.

●

Withdrawal of overshoes replaced with large mat area to clean shoes and requests for customers
to take their shoes off. Greater focus on environmental considerations.

●

1 change in Centre Manager with Steve Weston replacing Leigh White.

Page 18

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

SPACE
GP surgeries
Local schools
PCT cardiac rehab
Ashcombe Centre
CIMSPA
RLSS
England Squash and Racketball
Swim England
England Netball
British Gymnastics
Walking for health
Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle ASC
Badminton England
Swimathon

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Aspire
Rotary club
Everyone Health
Rethink
North Staffs Junior Football League
A large range of local sports clubs
Lifetime training
Dudley College
Leek and Buxton College
Thinking Active
Staffordshire Moorlands Family
Improvement Board
Triathlon England
Sport England

Page 19

767,561 visits (2019)

268 minor accidents

765,812 visits (2018)

252 minor accidents

3,027 members

14,992 pageviews

2,733 members

13,586 pageviews

2,519 lessons

86,536 online bookings

2,342 lessons

72,586 online bookings

99,880 class attendees

6,286 likes

96,324 class attendees

6,089 likes

Page 20

Brough
Park

South
Moorlands

Biddulph
Valley

Contract
Total

January to
October 2018

287,792

232,890

245,130

765,812

January to
October 2019

289,971

231,238

2463,52

767,561

Variance

2,179

(1652)

1,222

1,749

2018

2019

Page 21

Page 22
46 % vs 54%

AGE RANGE OF SWIM
LESSON MEMBERS

AGE RANGE OF EXPRESSIONS MEMBERS
<18

5.7%

18-24

10.1%

25-34

19.4%

35-44

18.5%

45-55

23.5%

55+

22.8%

49% vs 51%

16>

0.50%

10-15

11.50%

8-9

30.00%

5-7

30.00%

5<

16.00%

BPLC BVLC SMLC -

Page 23

Young people (Aged 5-18) April to September attendance 149,730
Older People 55+ April to September attendance 23,362
Women and Girls April to September attendance 183,914
People in lower social grades (NSEC 5-8) April to September attendance 31,569
People with limiting illness and disabilities April to September attendance 1,525

Page 24

In the future we will report on changes in these categories

Lex Leisure are committed to working in partnership with the Authority and other
agencies to engage fully in the community and target the 5 key priorities of the Active
Communities Plan. This will further develop as guidance and best practice updates. Some
of the other key stakeholders are listed below:

Page 25

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Partnership with Leek colleges for under 18 yr olds
Families in Crisis - Family Improvement Board Biddulph East
Haregate Community Centre and Head Teachers
Walking for Health
Health Authority
Doctors surgeries
Health Practitioners
Free health checks in the community and corporate days
Everyone Health community project
SASSOT
Local Sports Council

●
●
●
●
●
●

Parkwood has ceased to purchase any new single use plastics within its Cafes - saving 200KG of
single use plastics nationwide in 2019.
Due to a number of changes including 100% compostable coffee cups and lids - reduction of over
2 million cups/ lids a year going to landﬁll.
We have introduced biodegradable red and white straws, these are made from bamboo and wood
pulp and they are 100% compostable, biodegradable and safe for the environment.
We have taken a decision to positively promote that we are happy to reﬁll customers’ water bottles
on site FOC.
Trial of removal of plastic overshoes where reasonably practicable from wet side changing
Review of energy investments made regularly to reduce Carbon Footprint.

Page 26

The next steps
● Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan, which underpins its ambition to leave our environment in
a better state than we found it, the supply of certain Consumer Single Use Plastics (CSUP will be
banned across the estates of all Central Government Departments, their Executive Agencies and
Non Departmental Public Bodies from 1st January 2020).
● Continue with replacement on alternatives to single plastics in non Catering areas.
● New tenders will be negotiated to exclude the use of single plastics within the Parkwood Leisure
Supplier chain.
● Work with partnership groups on reducing single plastic use and alternatives to enable a cleaner
environment.
● Better reporting of Carbon Reduction within sites due to investments and better housekeeping.

Customer Satisfaction is collated via:
● Customer comment forms
● Verbal comments
●
●
●
●

Page 27

●
●
●
●

Customer Satisfaction Headlines:
●
92% customers very satisﬁed or satisﬁed
●
1% increase on last year’s performance
www.leisurecentre.com
●
Staff attitude the highest performing area
Facebook, Twitter
●
Cleanliness the area with the biggest improvement
Annual user survey poll off 1000
●
This is inline with National NBS averages.
Annual non user survey poll of 300
●
Taken from an average poll of 1000 facility users
Proinsight Mystery Shopper reports & visits
●
Conducted through Survey Monkey
Member satisfaction survey
Customer and club forum user groups
Client feedback

●
●
●
●
●
Page 28

●
●
●

Currently 14 Apprentices within the 3 Sites
This is a mixture of new employees and those in workforce
100% live in Staffordshire Moorlands
Range of qualiﬁcations is from L2 Fitness Instructor through to L5
Management
The apprenticeships last a minimum of 12 months and include the Core
Maths and English modules where required.
Clear opportunities for career progress through the Parkwood Leisure
Career Journey
Leads to full competency and capability in an occupation, demonstrated
by an Apprenticeship Standard
All are externally veriﬁed and awarded

2019
●
●
●
●

2 Watt bikes installed
New Turnstyle system installed
3G pitch installed in April
Signiﬁcant decoration of the centre and signage

2020
Page 29

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Locker upgrades in dryside and wet side
Gym carpets to be replaced
Changing room Floor upgrade in wet change
Continued decoration works throughout the centre
with new colour schemes
Cafe refurbishment with booth seating and bistro
tables to be installed
Swimming Pool Lighting Upgraded to LED’s
throughout
LEX Leisure funding of Sensory Lighting around the
Learner Pool to assist disability sessions and public
swim sessions.

Page 30

2019
● Decoration of gym, cafe and changing rooms
completed- Signage Improved
● Pool Cover replaced
● 18 New Spin bikes
● New Lockers in dry change
● Gym access control installed
● Coffee operation moved to reception for Open All
hours trading
2020
● Sports Hall ﬂoor to be refurbished- Dec 2019
● Gym carpets replaced
● Spectator area ﬂooring to be replaced on poolside
● Watt bike to be installed in the gym
● Airbike installed for HIIT workouts

●

Swimming pool ﬁlter media change from sand to glass

Page 31

2019
● New lockers installed in wet change
● Decoration around the centre completed
including gym and reception areas.
● Dryside changing rooms fully refurbished
● Pool Platforms Installed
● Coffee Offering moved to reception for
Open All Hours trading
● 18 New Spin Bikes Installed
2020
● Watt bike installed in the gym
● Gym ﬂooring replaced in the resistance
side of the gym.

Brough Park
● Pool Hall Structural Works 2019/2020
● Rooﬁng Works to Various Roofs 2019/2020/2021

Page 32

Biddulph Valley
● Rooﬁng works to main building to ensure its watertight and safe
2019/2020
● Retaining boundary wall 2019/2020
● Fire alarm system to be replaced and updated 2020/2021
● Wall cladding replacement 2020/2021
South Moorlands
● Rooﬁng over changing rooms to be replaced- Subject to Survey
● Fire alarm system to be replaced and updated- Subject to Survey
● External air conditioning condensers- Subject to Survey

Page 33

Update On Project
● Structural works identiﬁed in capital plan and from previous surveys.
● Further intrusive investigative surveys underway to gain contractor
conﬁdence.
● Scope of works then needs to be agreed by all parties with contract put in
place for delivery.
● Looking for works to be completed Jan to March 2020- Albeit this is based
on a successful tender package.
● Meeting with the Authority to agree scope is now booked for November.
● Other works will also be completed at this time as mentioned on the
Parkwood capital slide.
● Full communications plan in place for other stakeholders and will be
activated when works are conﬁrmed.

Further capital investment delivering on local plans.

●

To work closely with SMDC ofﬁcers to deliver the key strategic objectives.

●

Introduction of Atreemo for improved market intelligence and Digital journey.

●

Increase use of technology to further enhance the customer experience.

●
●

Page 34

●

Continue to develop the Modern Apprentice Scheme with Lifetime training.
Further reduce swimming lesson waiting lists and those wanting to learn to swim, increase
overall numbers.

●

Mitigate the closure of Brough Park Leisure Centres pool through proactive programming.

●

Provide clear Social Value calculations for the contract.

●

Further develop local relationships with key stakeholders.

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel
20th November 2019

TITLE:

Leisure Centre Options

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Mark Deaville - Deputy Leader &
Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Sports

CONTACT OFFICER:

Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and
Recreation)

WARDS INVOLVED:

Non-specific

1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to inform the Panel as to the development work to
help establish clear plans for future investment and management options for
the Council’s leisure centres, in line with the Physical Activity and Sport
Strategy and ambitions for a reduced service subsidy.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel:


Note plans to recruit external consultancy support in order to assist the
Council in progressing plans for future investment and management
options for leisure centres

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Asset condition surveys were completed during 2016, the outcomes from
which were considered by Cabinet in September 2016. The findings
highlighted that significant capital investment is required in our leisure assets
over the next 30 years in order that they remain fit for purpose.

3.2

In August 2017 Cabinet adopted a new Strategy for Physical Activity and
Sport. The strategy provides for opportunities for participation be developed
and maintained for a widest possible range of the Staffordshire Moorlands
community and establishes priorities that will target particular groups of people
and communities where inactivity and poor health is more prevalent.

3.3

At a similar time, the Council also commissioned FMG Consulting to review its

Page 37

leisure centre provision in the context of its sports facility needs focusing on
sports halls, swimming pools and other indoor provision. The purpose of
undertaking this review was to inform the Council on options for future
provision of council leisure centres and other sports facility based services
from 2018 and beyond.
3.4

The outcome of this review, in effect sets out a position statement on the
suggested facility hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for
phasing of future facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to
ensure that the Council can develop a more sustainable solution in relation to
meeting customer needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst
supporting the overall vision of the Council’s Physical Activity & Sport strategy.

3.5

The conclusion of the review was that the Council should consider the
following investment requirements:





Replacement of South Moorlands Leisure Centre with smaller community
pool and fitness offer, ideally co-located with other public sector services or
alternative options if co-location with health is not deliverable
Refurbishment and essential works at Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre
Replacement pool at Brough Park Leisure Centre
Investment in 3G pitch provision at strategic sites referenced in Local
Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) and Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS)

3.6

Parkwood Leisure has managed the Council’s leisure centres since March
2006 and in December 2018 Cabinet approved the extension the current
contract arrangements with them for the period from 1st March 2019 to 31st
March 2024.

3.7

Whilst approving the contract extension for Parkwood, the Council committed
to commence a process to consider longer-term future management options
for the leisure centres in further detail.

3.8

There are a number of different delivery options available for the Council to
consider for the future management arrangements for leisure centres once the
contract with Parkwood comes to an end in March 2024. Recommendations
for further consideration, taken from the FMG report are as follows:



3.9

A new outsourced single contract (i.e. an evolution of the current
arrangements with Parkwood or other external provider); or
Set up a local delivery vehicle – either a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Council or a new trust.

It is recommended that the Council now seeks further consultancy support in
order to assist the development of plans for continued service transformation,
in line with the Physical Activity and Sport Strategy and ambitions for a
reduced service subsidy, which should include;


A refresh of the current position highlighted in the 2017 FMG report, taking
into account changes to participation trends, leisure centre performance
data and improvements to community facilities, which build on the

Page 38





aspirations in the physical activity and sport strategy;
Development of a clear and affordable capital investment plan and
proposed delivery schedule for each investment option;
Detailed work to establish the preferred management options and the
financial impact of these to the Council; and
Engagement with partners to establish meaningful joint investment plans
if/where there is opportunity to do so.

3.10

Initial scoping meetings have taken place with Sport England in order to begin
to develop a robust specification for the work, including the use of the Sport
England, Strategic Outcome Planning Guidance (SOPG). SOPG guidance
(summary shown below) has a clear, strategic and sustainable approach to
making effective investment into sport and physical activity provision – both
facilities and services.

3.11

It is recognised that wider aspirations for the Council involving regeneration,
housing and health should feed into this work so as to ensure a holistic
approach is taken to addressing physical inactivity and health inequalities in
the broadest sense.

3.12

Work to develop a Cheadle Town Centre Master Plan led by colleagues in
Regeneration is ongoing, the Council has commissioned consultants
Cushman and Wakefield to progress this over the coming months.

3.13

An integrated leisure / health hub is being considered and further scoping
works are being undertaken by Cushman and Wakefield to establish high level
feasibility for this option. The further consultancy work planned for the future
leisure centre options will feed into this and explore feasibility in greater detail.

Page 39

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The provision of high quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and
swimming pools and out in the communities is an objective of the Council as
set out in the new Corporate Plan.

5

Options and Analysis

5.1

A number of options will be considered as part of the work undertaken

6

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
None

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and
Diversity policies.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The cost of this work will be met from existing resources
An outcome from this next piece of work will be a clear and affordable
capital investment plan and proposed delivery schedule for each investment
option

6.5
16.6

Legal
None
Sustainability
None

6.7

External Consultation
Extensive stakeholder consultation will be necessary before investment
options are finalised

6.8

Risk Assessment
Not applicable at this stage

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Page 40

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Cabinet report - Development of the
Asset Management Plan - Asset
Condition Surveys
Cabinet report - Strategy for Physical
Activity & Sport
Various background and working papers
Location: Fowlchurch Depot
Sport England – Strategic outcomes
planning guidance:
https://www.sportengland.org/media/1371
1/strategic-facilities-fund-prospectus.pdf

Moorlands House

Robert Wilks
Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation)
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 41

7.

Background & Introduction

7.1

In order to provide the foundations for the development of a strategy for new
investment options and operating arrangements for the leisure centres, the
Council appointed FMG Consulting Ltd in 2017 to review the leisure centre
provision and sports facility needs, focusing on sports halls, swimming pools
and other indoor provision.

7.2

The purpose of undertaking the review was to inform the Council on options
for future provision of council leisure centres and other sports facility based
services from 2019 and beyond. The review and assessments also provide
data and information to inform the development of the Local Plan, emerging
planning policy and infrastructure planning

7.3

The four core objectives of the review were to:






To audit and report on the wider supply and demand for sports facilities in
the Staffordshire Moorlands area and identify a mixed model of provision
(public/private/voluntary) capable of meeting future demand for sport and
physical activity.
To review the existing and provide options for the future provision of
Council leisure centres across the Staffordshire Moorlands.
Identify opportunities for allocating resources into existing local facilities
(council owned or third party) to achieve better outcomes for people in
relation to health, social and economic inclusion, crime reduction etc.
Provide a headline procurement and management model options
appraisal, for future council owned sports and leisure facilities. The model
should try and provide an optimal balance between meeting (sport and
physical activity) market demands, providing sufficient capacity, being
financially self sufficient and addressing local sport and physical activity
development needs.

7.4

The final report in effect sets out a position statement on the suggested facility
hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for phasing of future
facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to ensure that the Council
can develop a more sustainable solution in relation to meeting customer
needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst supporting the overall vision
of the Council’s Physical Activity & Sport Strategy.

7.5

The report stresses the importance of a multi-agency approach to delivery of
the service in the Moorlands if the Council’s strategic priorities are to be
achieved. The services are reliant on a network of well maintained, accessible
facilities throughout the district in order to facilitate the delivery of such
intervention programmes, alongside supporting positive habits amongst the
general population.

7.6

In order to inform the options for facilities, a detailed supply and demand
assessment was undertaken in a separate Assessment Report. The headline
findings are as follows:

Page 42

Facility Type
Sports Halls




Swimming Pools







Studios






Squash






Health and
Fitness



Findings
Good supply of sports halls with good accessibility;
Stock is aging (average age is 26 years)
Good supply of swimming pools
Location and catchment area of the pool sites serves the
District well
Over 92% of the District’s demand for swimming being met
and located inside the catchment area of a pool
Pools are reasonably full but there is also unused capacity
The age and quality of provision is a significant factor
(average age 45 years)
Studios are important as a facility type to increase
participation
Facility type has appeal to females and across the age ranges
16 – 54
Recent research evidence has shown that a reason for
declining participation in swimming is because of females
choosing to do dance and exercise classes in preference to
swimming.
In the event of re-development of the public leisure centres
then dedicated high quality studio provision should be an
integral part of the facility mix.
Rate of participation in squash has decreased considerably in
recent years
At the same time the average age for playing squash has
increased (according to
England Squash the average age of squash players is now
between 52 – 55 years of age)
There is scope to consolidate squash provision as
participation at the Draycott Centre and in 1-2 public leisure
centres will still provide access for pay and play at the leisure
centre sites and retain squash development at the Draycott
Centre.
Findings indicate the level of current gym provision is meeting
demand.

7.7

If the Council is to be effective in raising activity levels in the Moorlands, a
clear approach to facility provision is required. It will be necessary to maximise
the use of assets and coordinate provision from a number of sources. The
Council along with schools, colleges and clubs all have pivotal roles to play.

7.8

Future facility provision needs to be considered from four aspects:





7.9

Facilities required to enable physical activity for health benefits on a mass
and localised basis (particularly linked to the Physical Activity & Sport
Strategy);
Facilities required to meet educational need, particularly school swimming;
Facilities required for sport, particularly sports development and sports
clubs;
Facilities required for disability sport, including sports development and
education links.

For the services provided to be effective ensuring an appropriate location of
the facilities is vital. The figure below identifies an initial framework of provision
in the district going forward – this can form the basis for refinement and

Page 43

prioritising investment in future years. Importantly, the tiers are not exclusive
and many facilities will cater for a range of users.

7.10

Within the context of this framework of provision, particularly in relation to
district-wide and ‘locality’ or town-based provision, the Council invests
significant resources in delivering a number of sporting facilities, which attract
nearly 1 million visits per annum and provide a range of essential services
such as learn to swim programmes, exercise referral services and support for
local schools. In addition, the centres are bases for numerous clubs and
groups, enabling many clubs to deliver and develop their sports in a safe and
suitable environment.

7.11

The review of current provision and needs analysis in Staffordshire Moorlands
identifies the following key themes to be taken into account in relation to
Council-owned indoor leisure assets:







The need to address quality issues across all sites, but particularly South
Moorlands Leisure Centre and the pool provision at Brough Park Leisure
Centre;
Recognition that there is no need for additional swimming pool or sports
hall provision and that residential growth is not a driver of future facility
need;
Future facilities and programmes need to be cognisant of the needs of
focus groups and ageing of the resident population;
Refurbishment and re-provision are the main drivers to achieve a ‘fit for
purpose’ estate, with the potential to rationalise the stock in some aspects;
At a quantitative level, there is potential for pool consolidation across
Staffordshire Moorlands, however there also needs to be recognition that
pools service distinct catchments;
To ensure, where possible, that all school sports halls are accessible to the
local community for as much time as is feasibly possible (see proposed
community use standard). This should be written into community use
agreements with schools where possible;

Page 44



7.12

To ensure that the programming of all sports halls is complementary and
works to achieve maximum benefit for the local community and catchment
which it serves;
In parallel, there is also a need to ensure that the cost of accessing
facilities is appropriate for different client groups.

This translates into the following investment requirements for the Council:







Replacement of South Moorlands Leisure Centre with smaller community
pool and fitness offer, ideally co-located with other public sector services
(health / children’s services / social care etc.);
Refurbishment and essential works at Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre;
Replacement pool at Brough Park Leisure Centre & 3G pitch development
(indoor & outdoor coordination, meeting the Playing Pitch Strategy needs;
Leek North target area engagement given proximity of the Brough Park
site);
Increased access to school sites for sports hall provision / club use;
Development of 3G pitch provision – potentially linked to school sites

7.13

At the time of the study, the indicative capital cost for the preferred
investments would be in the region of £19.25m. This would result in indicative
debt repayment costs of £1.35m per annum. Evidence would suggest that
investment would result in savings / increased income of approximately
£460,000 per annum. As the investment costs is significantly in excess of
revenue savings, the Council will need to provide additional sources of capital
investment to deliver these improvements.

8.

Consultancy Support and Consultation with Key Partners

8.1

It is recommended that the Council now seeks further consultancy support in
order to assist the Council in developing its plans for continued service
transformation, in line with the Physical Activity and Sport Strategy and
ambitions for a reduced service subsidy, which should include:





8.2

A refresh of the current position highlighted in the 2017 FMG report, taking
into account changes to participation trends, leisure centre performance
data and improvements to community facilities, which build on the
aspirations in the physical activity and sport strategy;
Development of a clear and affordable capital investment plan and
proposed delivery schedule for each investment option;
Detailed work to establish the preferred management options and the
financial impact of these to the Council; and
Engagement with partners to establish meaningful joint investment plans
if/where there is opportunity to do so.

Sport England is a national organisation responsible for grass roots sport in
England. They have a wide focus which encompasses many aspects,
including providing specialist support and guidance to local authorities
regarding the development of new leisure facilities and operating models.

Page 45

8.3

The Council will work closely with Sport England throughout the next steps to
ensure the Council maximises the support, guidance and external funding
opportunities available to it.

8.4

Initial scoping meetings have taken place with Sport England in order to begin
to develop a robust specification for this work, this will include the use of their
Strategic Outcome Planning Guidance (SOPG). The SOPG guidance (a
summary of which is shown below) has a clear, strategic and sustainable
approach to making effective investment into sport and physical activity
provision – both facilities and services.

8.5

For each for the four sections of the SOGP is a checklist which will be utilised
to ensure that the key areas for consideration have been met and any
potential gaps have been addressed.

8.6

The proposed timetable for delivery of this next stage of consultancy work is
summarised in the table below:
Stage
Member approval for consultancy
support
Tender for consultancy support
advertised
Appointment of consultant
Consultancy work undertaken
Recommendations reported back to
Members

Page 46

Date
December 2019
Winter 2019/20
Spring 2020/21
Spring-Summer 2020/21
Winter 2020/21

8.7

It is recognised that wider aspirations for the Council involving regeneration,
housing and health should feed into this work so as to ensure a holistic
approach is taken to addressing physical inactivity and health inequalities in
the broadest sense.

8.8

The Council has appointed consultants Cushman and Wakefield to develop a
Cheadle Town Centre Master Plan over the coming months. An integrated
leisure/health hub is being considered as part of this work. Further scoping
works are being undertaken by consultants Cushman and Wakefield to
establish high level feasibility for this option. Officers from Service
Commissioning have been engaged with this process in order that leisure
facility needs for Cheadle can be fully considered.

8.9

The consultancy support for the future leisure centre options will continue to
feed into this masterplan project and will explore the feasibility of this option in
greater detail.

9.

Future Operating Model - Options

9.1

There are a number of different delivery options available for the Council to
consider for the future management arrangements when the contract with
Parkwood Leisure comes to an end in March 2024. These options are as
follows:






In-house delivery;
Outsourcing to an existing trust or private contractor;
Establishing an alternative delivery vehicle, for example a new trust /
mutual or other form of social enterprise or a wholly-owned subsidiary;
Asset transfer:
Establishing a Joint Venture.

9.2

It is proposed that the consultancy support to be procured will undertake an
assessment of the various options available to the Council in order that a
recommendation for future delivery can be identified.

9.3

As the leisure operating contracts in the Staffordshire Moorlands and High
Peak have now been aligned in regards to the contract end date, any future
provision can now be considered across both council areas. Especially as
provision across the Alliance may generate additional benefits or issues not
previously identified.

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel
20 November 2019

TITLE:

Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme
Update

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader
SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER:

Sarah Porru - Head of Regeneration

WARDS INVOLVED:

(All Wards);

Appendices Attached – Appendix A – FAQ – Home Build Fund
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To update councillors on the progress of the Accelerated Housing Delivery
Programme. The AHDP is a package of measures to tackle the low level of
development activity.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Councillors note the update report.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Staffordshire Moorlands has suffered from low levels of development for
many years. Planning approvals are being granted on sites but some are not
coming forward to the construction phase.

3.2

In order to tackle this problem we listened to the issues raised by developers
and developed a comprehensive delivery programme to tackle the problem.
The Accelerated Housing delivery Programme (AHDP) was approved by
members in April 2018.

3.2

The accelerated housing delivery programme has two aims, to;
 Drive forward delivery of the local plan and maintain 5 year land supply
by proactive measures and Council led interventions where appropriate.
 Deliver community benefits in form of increased income from council
tax, business rates and New Homes Bonus for reinvestment in the

Page 49

community.
3.3

In the short time the AHPD has been operational, officers have achieved the
following outcomes;
 34 affordable homes completed in 2018/19
 Successful bid to LGF for Growth Fund Deal grant for Blythe Park
Extension Infrastructure Scheme £1,250,000
 Successful EOI to Homes England, Small Sites Fund with invitation to
make a full funding application for Cornhill, Leek
 Completion of the Investment and Acquisition Strategy
 Completion of Wharf Road and Tunstall Road masterplans
 Anticipated completion of Cheadle Town Centre masterplan December
2019
 Strengthen and improved relationship with local registered providers

3.4

However the latest demographic information shows that in 2018 the population
in Staffordshire Moorlands declined for the first time in many years. It was the
only Staffordshire district to see a decline in population. The decline was
driven by natural change (deaths exceed births by 330) and there were not
enough people moving into the area to counteract the natural change figures.

3.5

The lack of new housing growth is exacerbating these demographic trends. In
2018/19 there were 140 new homes completed in the district. This compares
to 660 in Stafford, 620 in East Staffordshire. Only 2.2% of houses sold in
Staffordshire Moorlands are new homes. This is the tenth lowest figure for
local authorities in England (out of 382 councils).

3.6

This low level of housing delivery combined with an ageing population leads to
low investment in the town centre and high levels of empty shops, difficulty in
recruitment, Investment going to higher growth areas, leading to a reduction in
income to the Council and other public services. Therefore there is a
continued need to drive the accelerated housing delivery programme.

3.7

This will deliver the following benefits, in addition to the above outcomes the
successful delivery of the adopted accelerated housing delivery programme
will bring the following benefits;
 Increase the number of new homes built, meeting housing demand
identified in the local plan and contributing to the Council’s 5 year land
supply
 Increased investment in community benefits through S106 contributions as
well as increased income from Council tax and potentially from New
Homes Bonus
 Delivery of affordable homes in line with the emerging Local Plan Policy
 Inward investment through the development and construction activities
 Creation and retention of jobs through construction of homes and
supporting the supply of homes for skilled labour force for the local
businesses
 Increased footfall and spend in the local economy
 Stimulus for economic growth and external investment to help towns and
villages remain vibrant and sustainable.

Page 50

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme seeks to deliver housing
growth anticipated in the Local Plan and will therefore have links to the
following aims in the Corporate Plan:
Aim one: help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities
to live and work
Aim two: Effective use of resources and provide value for money
Aim three: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration
of towns and villages
Aim four: Protect and improve the environment





5.

Alternative Options

5.1

There are no options, as the report is for information.
Dai Larner
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

HDT Action Plan

Sarah Porru
Head of Regeneration
sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk

Tunstall Road Masterplan
https://democracy.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/documents/s1
4601/Tunstall%20Road%20Masterplan%20%20September%202019.pdf

Wharf Road Masterplan
https://democracy.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/documents/s14577/Wharf%20Rd%20SDS.pdf

6.

Detail

6.1 Historically, completions rates in the Staffordshire Moorlands have been low.
Number of homes completed:
2012/13 = 96
2013/14 = 124
2014/15 = 307
2015/16 = 100
2016/17 = 128
2017/18 = 142
2018/19 = 165
6.2

The emerging Local Plan requires that 6080 homes be built over the plan
period (2014-2033) at an annual rate of 320 per year. There are a number of
sites with existing planning permission still to come forward. The priority is to
therefore support active conversion from sites with unimplemented planning
approvals to delivery of homes.

Page 51

6.3

In response, back in April 2018 Councillors approved the Accelerated Housing
Delivery Programme (AHDP). The aim of the programme was to:
 Drive forward delivery of the local plan and maintain 5 year land supply
by proactive measure and Council led interventions where appropriate.
 Delivery community benefits in the form of increased income from
council tax, business rates and New Homes Bonus for reinvestment in
the community.

6.4

The proposal created a comprehensive package of measures to accelerate
housing delivery, which focused on 4 key themes, as set out in more detail in
para 7.12.
 Open for business approach to planning applications and the regulatory
process
 Facilitating development on sites with un-implemented planning
approvals
 Accelerating delivery of emerging Local Plan sites
 Council-led proactive interventions

6.5

Since the APDH was introduced the government also announced the Housing
Delivery Test (HDT), as a monitoring tool to assess whether local areas are
building enough homes to meet their housing need. The HDT which was
introduced in February 2019 compares the number of new homes delivered
over the previous 3 years with the authorities housing requirement.

6.6

A total of 369 homes were completed in Staffordshire Moorlands (including the
Peak District National Park) over the three year period, 175 homes less than
the 544 homes needed. This equated to 68% of the need being meet.
Government guidance states, where delivery has been less than 75% of the
housing requirement, the NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable
development will apply and an Action Plan must be prepared with six months.
Inline with government guidance, an action plan was approved by members in
August 2019.

6.7

In advance of the Housing Delivery Test being introduced, the Council had
already acknowledged the historic issue of low completions rates and work
through the AHDP had commenced to drive development forward.

6.8

Through comprehensive discussions with developers, landowners registered
providers and stakeholders the Council has identified a number of issues and
barriers. These include:


Low rates of house building due to:
o National houses builders such as Barratts, Persimmon and Taylor
Wimpey have minimum site thresholds of around 80-100 which is
significantly larger than the majority of sites available in the
Moorlands.
o Connectivity across the Staffordshire Moorlands is poor which
makes commuting less attractive and increases construction costs.
o Low levels of profit margins, leading to a limited incentive for

Page 52







developers to expand into the Staffordshire Moorlands area.
o Difficult to justify S106 contributions on small sites which leads to
lack of infrastructure, education and open space investment.
Lack of control and certainty for the Council due to lack of publically owned
land that can be developed for housing.
Local plan not being in place- leading to uncertainty and lack of developers’
confidence
Difficult planning process. The appeal process is high risk, high cost and
low reward on relatively small sites and low profit margins.
Lack of high skilled, high paid jobs within the district, affecting affordability
of new housing
Lack of diversity in available house types, not attracting premium earners/
high skilled and young first time buyers.

6.9

The lack of housing growth across the Staffordshire Moorlands impacts the
area both in terms of economic prosperity but also the demographic makeup
of the area. The lack of growth leads to low investment in town centres and
high levels of vacant shops, local employers have difficulty in recruitment and
there is a reduction in income to the Council and other public services.

6.10

Recent population statistics show a decline in the population for the first time
in many years, peaking at 98,496 in 2017 but declining to 98,397 in 2018. The
impact of depopulation and an ageing population will inevitably mean an
increase in social care provision and an increase demand for retirement
accommodation. Whilst at the same time, employers will potentially be forced
to relocate to where they can attract workers and the highstreets and town
centres may also decline.

6.11

Driving growth forward through the AHDP and accelerating the delivery of the
emerging Local Plan must be a priority for the Council. As identified above,
limited growth can hugely stifle the sustainability of communities, young
people move away seeking better opportunities which impacts on the vibrancy
of the high street, employment opportunities and ultimately a reduction in
Council Tax and Business Rates.
The AHDP focuses on four keys themes which are each split into a number of
deliverable actions.

6.12

Theme 1- Open for business approach to planning applications and
regulatory process
Actions are to:
 Prepare place marketing material to promote inward investment
 Incentivise development through a streamline planning application
process
 Enhanced service delivery with customer focused approach to all
regulatory functions.
 Reduce number of planning appeals to reduce the developers risk.

6.13

Theme 2- Facilitating development on sites with un-implemented
planning approvals.

Page 53

Actions are to:
 Enable and facilitate private sector partners and developers to help
achieve an increase in the number of completions. Work with
developers and partners to understand the issues and overcome
barriers which delay development.
 Approach land owners with planning approvals and outline support
and Homes England (HE) (formally the Homes and Communities
Agency) funding available. The majority of developers across the
Moorlands area are small to medium enterprises and can lack
knowledge of the development process and or financing.
 Approach Registered Providers, land agents and developers to
understand the barriers and constraints to delivery
 Work with Registered Providers to identify suitable sites for 100%
affordable housing and pursue funding bids with HE
 Work with HE to promote ‘Home Build Fund’ aimed at small sites
and small scale builders to bring forward delivery of sites
 Revise planning pages to include guidance for small site owners
and business to demystify the planning process
6.14

Update and progress made:

6.15

Officers have undertaken an extensive programme of work with local
developers, registered providers, Homes England to encourage landowners
with unimplemented planning and outline approvals to progress, and ultimately
commence delivery on site.

6.16

Frustratingly, interest and uptake of the Councils offer of assistance has been
low. The Council approached all landowners (those with unimplemented
planning approvals) offering the following pack of support and advice.

-

preparing a reserved matters application
discharging planning conditions,
liaising with local Registered Providers for affordable housing
understanding the market value of the site
how to actively market the site and finding an appropriate buyer/ developer/
builder
understanding legal issues related to development
funding support, finance if required
In addition to the above support, the officers have liaised with Homes England
regarding the advice and assistance they could offer to drive delivery forward.
Landowners were invited to attend a drop in session directly with a senior
officer from Homes England to promote their Home Building Fund. The Home
Building Fund is aimed at helping developers and landowners who are
struggling to obtain finance which is preventing them from commencing work
on site. A FAQ leaflet (appendix 1) was developed and distributed to landlords
to raise awareness. Despite our best efforts, very few landowners/ developers
came forward to take advantage of this fantastic opportunity.

6.17

6.18

Work with registered providers has proved to be more positive and several

Page 54

new providers are seeking development opportunities within the district.
6.19

Due to the geographic location of the Staffordshire Moorlands, whilst it is
extremely positive to welcome new providers into the area, there are sadly
still not a huge number willing to work in the district. The registered providers
who are actively looking for development opportunities are;









Honeycomb Group (formally known as Staffordshire Housing)
Your Housing Group
Wrekin Housing Trust
Aspire Group
Staffordshire and Rural Housing
Jigsaw Homes Group
Johnnie Johnson Housing Trust
Peak District Rural Housing Association

6.20

Due to the limited number of open market developments under construction
and viability concerns, there a limited S106 opportunities for registered
providers in the district. This lack of opportunities has forced registered
providers to think more strategically, and form relationships with developers to
bring sites for 100% affordable housing. Where appropriate we are
encouraging them to seek SOAHP grant from Homes England. This is mainly
on sites where a financial viability has been identified and they are not able to
be Core Strategy policy H2 compliant.

6.21

There were 34 affordable housing completions in 2018/19. These were
delivered by 2 registered providers. Wrekin Housing Trust delivered 30 homes
for affordable rent on Bank Street, Cheadle and will complete a further 12
apartments in 2019/20. A new relationship with EPIC has seen 4 empty homes
purchased from the open market and brought back into use as shared
ownership.

6.22

Officer are meeting regularly with registered providers to build stronger
working relationship, and whilst it may be several years until we start to see
increased delivery on site, we are constantly investigating opportunities to
deliver more affordable homes across the district.

6.23

An online planning guide has been developed for businesses in order to
demystify the planning process .
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1813/Pre-application-advice-forbusinesses

6.24

Theme 3 Accelerating delivery of the Local Plan sites
Actions are to:
 Once the Local Plan is submitted, start to approach owners of the
newly allocated residential sites to look at steps for delivery.
 Work with private sector land owners to prepare masterplans and
delivery options for large cluster sites identified in the emerging
Local Plan.
o Wharf Road, Biddulph (local plan policy DSB1)
o Tunstall Road, Biddulph (local plan policy DSB2)

Page 55






o Mobberley Area, Cheadle (south west cluster) (local plan
policy (DSC3)
o Blythe Vale sites (local plan policy DSR1)
In addition to the above masterplans, the following mixed use
development opportunity sites where there is significant public
sector land ownership would benefit from Council led intervention to
prepare masterplans for coordinated delivery.
o Cheadle Town Centre
o The Mill Quarter, Leek
Following the masterplans, work with landowners and stakeholders
to initiate delivery and land assembly discussions.
Work with stakeholders including Staffordshire County Council to bid
for funding for relevant infrastructure or viability gap (if any) as and
when appropriate.

6.25

Update and progress made:

6.26

Although the Local Plan timetable has been revised since the approval of the
AHDP, work has commenced in readiness for adoption in 2020.

6.27

In order to ensure efficient use of Council resources a phased approach to
commissioning masterplans has previously been agreed. The following
actions tabled below were proposed for the Councils direct intervention in
accelerating the delivery of Local Plan sites. The table below provides an
update to each action.

6.28
Task

Timescale

Lead
organisation

Update

Completed in preparation of Local Plan
Acquisition and
investment strategy

2018-19

SMDC

Report complete and adopted
October 2019

Wharf Road
masterplan, Biddulph

2018-19

SMDC

Report completed September
2019. No further work to be
commissioned at present

Tunstall Road
masterplan, Biddulph

2018-19

SMDC

Report completed September
2019. Further works are
proposed but have not been
put forward for member
approval until the adoption of
the local plan.

Cheadle Town Centre
masterplan

2019/20

SMDC+SCC

Work in progress, due to
complete Dec 2019. Bid to
OPE phase 8 to be submitted
in due course

Tasks still to be completed

Page 56

Mobberley Farm
masterplan, Cheadle

TBC

Private sector
owners

No update

Blythe Vale
masterplan

TBC

Private sector
owners

No update

A50 impact report +
access infrastructure

TBC

SMDC+
neighbouring
authorities
Highways
England &SCC

No update

Mil Quarter, Leek

TBC

SMDC+SCC

No update

(Masterplan/ Leek
Mills strategy)

6.29

Since completion, The Acquisition Strategy, Tunstall Road and Wharf Road
masterplans have been presented to members through Service Delivery.
Links to further information is available in the background section.

6.30

One of the key actions for accelerating sites, is to work with stakeholders to
bid for funding for relevant infrastructure or viability gaps.

6.31

Officers have successfully supported MJ Barrett to make an application to LGF
for Growth Fund Deal 3 grant for the Blythe Park Extension Infrastructure
Scheme. The scheme in Cresswell was awarded £1,250,000 of grant for infra
structure works which will enable the development of much needed
employment/ commercial space and residential development.

6.32

Developers at Cornhill, with input from the Council, has successfully
completed an EOI to Homes England for funding from its Small Sites Fund.
The developer, Casey Group has been invited to make a full application.

6.33

Theme 4 – Council led interventions
Actions are to:
 Consider proactive intervention by the council where appropriate to gain
more control and certainty over developments by using Council’s
resources and powers in form of assets, funding, borrowing powers,
CPO powers and skill and expertise of the staff.
 Commission consultants to prepare an investment and acquisition
strategy for the purchase of land in appropriate areas to allow direct
intervention from the Council and or its partners.
 Consider a housing delivery vehicle such as a joint venture for public
sector led delivery of a range of housing tenure and typologies.
 Work with other public sector bodies including SCC, NHS and other
public sector partners to review land assets in their ownership through
the One Public Estate Programme (OPE) and consider options for
enhanced service deliver through rationalisation of assets which may
result in surplus land for additional housing sites.
 Review all council owned land assets and consider development where

Page 57

appropriate.
6.34

Update and progress made:

6.35

The Investment and Acquisition Strategy was adopted in October 2018. The
Strategy is a review of the rational for investment to understand the key drivers
which might underpin the need for Council investment in Staffordshire
Moorlands. The strategy sets out a range of potential intervention routes for
shortlisted sites and site recommendations.

6.36

The overarching rational for the Council to invest or directly intervene in
development in the District is based on 4 key principles.





To deliver on strategic objectives and priorities
To generate economic benefits for the wider district and social benefits
for communities
To deliver catalytic impacts to prove market demand for products and
stimulate sector interest
To generate financial returns for the Council in terms of capital receipts,
and both short and long-term future revenue streams for the Council to
support delivery of services.

6.37

Another action under the Council led proactive interventions theme is to work
with other public sectors partners to review land assets through the One Public
Estate Programme (OPE) and consider options for enhanced service delivery
through rationalisation of assets which may result in surplus land for additional
housing sites. It is anticipated that a bid will be submitted to OPE phase 8 to
deliver the completed Cheadle masterplan.

6.38

Cushman and Wakefield were commissioned to prepare a Spatial Masterplan
and Investment Strategy for Cheadle Town Centre. The reasoning behind the
masterplan is to make better use of Council and County Council owned sites
and to rejuvenate the high street. The consultants evidence suggested that
Cheadle was facing the following issues:






Declining population
Declining high street
Lack of indemnity
Congestion
Lack of housing delivery in recent years

6.39

The masterplan is expected to be completed in December. It will contain
options for utilising some public sectors sites including Tape Street car park to
increase residential housing growth.

7

Next Steps

7.1

Whilst the council has been extremely proactive in attempting to drive forward
housing growth there is still further work to do. Officers will continue to
implement the actions identified in the AHDP focusing on,
 Understanding and removing the barriers to growth and investment

Page 58





7.2

Continuing to work with developers and landowners with unimplemented
planning approvals
Working with developers and landowners to promote sites allocated in the
emerging Local Plan.
Continue to strengthen relationships with developers and registered
providers
Continue to work with other public sector bodies to attract funding and
investment to the area.

It is anticipated that the Local Plan will be adopted in late 2019 early 2020,
once adopted it is pivotal that the Council accelerate housing delivery on
newly allocated sites that will support economic growth in the area and
enhance the vibrancy of towns and villages. The successful delivery of the
accelerated housing delivery programme will bring the following benefits;
 Increase the number of homes built, meeting housing demand identified
in the emerging Local Plan and contributing to the Councils 5 year land
supply
 Increased investment in community benefits through S1076
contributions as well as increased income form Council Tax and
potentially from New Homes Bonus
 Delivery of affordable homes
 Inward investment through the development and construction activities
 Creation and retention of jobs through construction of homes and
supporting the supply of homes for skilled labour farce for local
business
 Increase in population and potential rise in the number of younger
households choosing to remain in the area.

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Homes England: Home Building Fund- FAQ
As a country we need more homes to be built in order to tackle the housing crisis.
The government acknowledges that finance is one of the key barriers to small builders and
landowners. The role of small and medium builders is key in providing new homes in the
Staffordshire Moorlands.
To help landowners and developers the government is working with Homes England, former
known as the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to provide a flexible source of funding
known as the Home Building Fund. The fund is open to small builders, community builders,
custom builders, regeneration specialist and larger house builders.
The fund is aimed at helping developers and landowners who are struggling to obtain
finance which is preventing them from commencing work on site. The fund provides
development finance as a loan to meet the development costs of building the rent which
can be for sale or rent.
We understand that the development process can be complex especially where finance is
concerned.
The scheme has funded over 500 sites nationwide in 2017/18 with several of these being in
the Staffordshire Moorlands area including Cheddleton and Tean.
How does the Home Building Fund Work?
• Minimum loan amount is £250,000.
• Maximum loan term of 5 years.
• Each development project must build a minimum of 5 homes.
• Interest is payable at transparent, pre agreed variables rates. A margin of 5% to 6%
above EC Reference rate is typical. In addition to the interest rate, an arrangement
fee of 0.5% will apply.
• On larger sites sales income can be recycled to minimise the loan request. For
example, the loan could fund the costs of a first phase, and when these properties
are sold the proceeds could be invested back into the project to fund future phases
rather than repaying the loan, thus keeping borrowing costs down.
Who can apply?
• Applicants will need to demonstrate that without this funding the scheme would not
progress as quickly, or at all. Borrowers will need to demonstrate that they have
approached high street banks and explored other possible funding solutions.
•

The borrower must be a UK registered corporate entity. It is very easy to set up a
private limited company. You will need to register with Companies House who
charge £12 to complete this process. This process is known as ‘incorporation’. Full
guidance on how to register can be found at https://www.gov.uk/limited-companyformation https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/companies-house

*Dependent on Borrower’s financial standing, development experience and the risk
profile/complexity of the project.

Page 61

•

Borrowers will need to demonstrate previous experience of development/ building.
Appropriate experience will depend on the amount of loan sought but even
development of 1 or 2 units built elsewhere would be sufficient. Where borrowers
are not able to demonstrate this experience, one option could be to form a joint
venture with a local builder. Homes England will be able to provide comprehensive
guidance on this.

•

Applicants must be a private sector entity which has majority control of the site.
Borrows must be able to demonstrate they have 20% of the total development costs
as equity. Equity doesn’t necessarily have to be in the form of capital. Land value can
also be included and Homes England will arrange a valuation to confirm if sufficient
value is held. As the project progresses Home England will carry out regular
valuations and cover the cost of these as well as any legal fees which on incurred.

•

Applicants will need to demonstrate they have a controlling interest in the land and
that planning approval agreed or provide evidence that planning approval is
imminent.

Repayment terms
• Borrowers will be expected to repay the loan amount within 5 years.
•

Borrowers will not restart to repay the loan until completed properties are sold.

•

Homes England will take first legal charge over the development site. A Debenture (a
fixed and floating charge over all assets of the company) is also expected.

•

Homes England will undertake site viability and appraisal work to ensure each site is
financially viable. As part of the appraisal process a market-standard developer profit
margin is required.

Application process
To help you with the application process we will be arranging drop in sessions with Homes
England at Moorlands House in Leek. If you would like to attend one of these sessions,
please contact Kate Hall 0345 129 7777 ext 4619

*Dependent on Borrower’s financial standing, development experience and the risk
profile/complexity of the project.

Page 62

Page 63

Consequences of stagnant
housing growth

Agenda Item 10

The problem
• Lack of housing growth
• Ageing population
Page 64

• Leads to:
– Low investment in the town centre and high levels
of empty shops
– Difficulty in recruitment
– Investment going elsewhere
– Reduction in income to the Council and other
public services

Few new houses being built and sold

Page 65

Depopulation

Page 66

Deaths exceed births

Page 67

We are missing young,
productive people
Options
1. Carry on
•
•
•

Page 68

•

Retirement place for North
Staffordshire
Declining town centres
Businesses move to where
there is demand and workers
Reduction in Council tax and
business rates – reduced
services

2. Growth mindset
•
•
•
•
•

Deliver demand for housing
(especially around Cheadle)
Remove barriers to investment
Open for Business approach
to investment
Ruthless focus on delivering
housing supply
Negotiate benefits from growth
for the community

Page 69

Thank you

QUESTIONS

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL
Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel
20 November 2019

TITLE:

Markets Terms and Conditions

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Edwin Wain - Portfolio Holder for
Planning, Development and Property

CONTACT OFFICER:

Sarah Porru - Regeneration Officer

WARDS INVOLVED:

Leek East

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1 Markets Terms and Conditions
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to recommend proposed changes to Leek
Market’s rules and regulations to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness
of the market operation. These changes include the withdrawal of free or
reduced stall rents, withdrawal of cash payments and introducing an
administration charge for issuing or amending market traders concessionary
parking permits.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Service Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel recommends Cabinet:
1) To remove the annual two free trading weeks for regular traders in the
Leek Trestle Market.
2) To remove the concession whereby Charter market traders pay only
half of the stall rent if they do not attend a pre booked market.
3) To move all regular stall holders to a direct debit payment method.
4) To introduce a £10.00 administration charge to issue or amend parking
permits for market traders.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Leek markets have a number of practices covering free trading weeks, trader
absence, issuing and amending concessionary parking permits and

Page 71

collecting/amending trader’s payments and invoices that are labour intensive,
inefficient and costly. As part of the project to modernise and improve the
markets operation this report sets out a series of proposed changes to these
arrangements to bring improved efficiency, reduce intervention from the
markets and finance staff and improve profitability.
3.2

The recommendations contained within this report are expected to save the
council approximately £3100 per annum. If approved the changes will be
implemented from April 1st 2020.

3.3

A summary of the proposed changes is attached at Appendix 1

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

This report supports the principles of the Staffs Moorlands Corporate Plan:
2018-2019


Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for money

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

Option 1: Do not implement the proposals
Under this option, the council will not approve the proposals and traders
arrangements and payment methods will continue, increasing the
administrative burden on the market and finance teams. Not recommended.

5.2

Option 2: Agree implementation of proposals to ensure that the arrangements
are cost-effective and consistent with the practice in the other markets and car
parking. Recommended.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
Reduced administrative burdens which will allow staff resource to
be directed to developing and marketing the public markets.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
None

6.4

Financial Considerations

Increased income to the council by removing free weeks and
half rents.

Savings by reducing administration involved with amending
invoices and liaising with traders.

Page 72




6.5

Savings by removing expensive cash and cheque processing
charges.
Increased income implementing an administration charge for
concessionary car parking permits.
The above savings/additional income total approximately
£3,000. A full breakdown is attached at Appendix 1

Legal
The provision of 2 free weeks for the Trestle Market traders is
included in the market terms and conditions and can therefore be
amended by giving traders notice in writing.
The 50% charge to traders for absence is a clause in the current
outdoor market licenses. This requires notification to be given to
the traders and a request that they accept a written amendment.
Alternatively, the current license can be terminated with one
months notice and then be reissued with the clause removed. It is
not proposed to implement these changes until 1st April 2020 in
order to allow a satisfactory notice period and ensure trader
engagement.
Similarly, changing to Direct Debit only payments would require
some leases and licenses to be updated to reflect this change.
Again, traders can accept an addendum to their license or it can be
terminated and reissued with the new payment option included in
the terms of the license.

6.6

Sustainability
None

6.7

Consultation
Changes if approved will be implemented April 1st 2020 and traders
will be consulted

6.8

Risk Assessment
None
Dai Larner
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details
Sarah Porru
Head of Regeneration
sarah.porru@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk
07904 288370

7.

Detail

Page 73

7.1

The trestle table hire rate for a regular stall is £14.77 for the Saturday trestle
market and £17.50 for the Wednesday trestle market. Leek trestle market
traders are given two free weeks trading per year on dates nominated by the
council. With 26 out of 32 stalls occupied the average annual net cost of two
free weeks trading to the council is £1,678. This benefit is not extended to any
other council markets so removal would bring the trestle market in line with the
prevailing practice. The withdrawal of the free weeks of trading means income
to the council is increased and the administrative cost of managing the free
weeks is removed.

7.2

Outdoor market traders pay half rent (£10.00) if they are not able to attend the
Wednesday outdoor charter market due to illness, vehicle breakdown or
compassionate grounds. The cost to erect and dismantle a 3x3m pop up
gazebo by the contracted provider, City-B group, is currently £18.50. The net
cost for the stall being erected for an absent trader is £8.50. There are an
average of 20 trader absences annually which costs £170.00.and additional
staff time.

7.3

Traders are invoiced either quarterly or monthly depending on the market with
options to pay the invoice by bank transfer, direct debit, credit/debit card
online via the council’s website or pay cash/cheque at Moorlands House
reception. Cash/cheque payments are costly compared to the alternative
payment methods (appendix item 4). If traders do not use the correct invoice
reference the payment cannot be allocated to their account, incurring
additional staff time to resolve and occasionally triggering overdue payment
letters. Payment by Direct Debit ensures the payment is allocated to the
correct account, payments are all collected on the 15th of the month reducing
administration and we know within two days if a payment has not been
collected. Changing to Direct Debit would require some leases and licenses
updating to reflect this change in payment method Traders can accept an
addendum to their license or it can be terminated and reissued with the new
payment option

7.4

Leek Market traders receive a concessionary parking permit which allows
them to park for extended stays or with no charges in council car parks.
Frequent requests are made to amend the pass for other vehicles. In the
region of 85 passes are issued annually with around 50 being reissued or
amended. The proposed administration charge of £10.00 to issue or amend
the passes brings the market traders concessionary passes into line with other
council issued parking permits.

Page 74

Appendix 1 Leek Market Terms & Conditions 12th November 2019

Item
Regular Trestle Market
Traders
Receive 2 free weeks
trading per calendar
year.

When introduced
Updated market rules
/regulations November
2006

Reason
Possibly a trader
incentive to retain/gain
new traders competing
against other markets

Page 75

Revenue impact SMDC
SATURDAY TRESTLE
£14.77 per stall x 26 x 2
occasions. approx.- £768
p.a.

Other impact
Finance: Credit notes are
raised for each trader
estimated cost of £4 per
trader.

WEDNESDAY TRESTLE
£17.5 per stall x 26 x 2
occasions. approx.- £910
p.a.

Markets:
Email communication to
finance to decide the
week to give.

TOTAL REVENUE
IMPACT
£1,678 p.a.

Communicate week to
traders
Traders try to negotiate
the free week against
another week if they are
on holiday – this isn’t
given but takes time to
manage

Benefit
Increased revenue,
smoother process for
traders and less
intervention from SMDC
Markets team.
Once implemented less
administration and adhoc queries
Brings the Trestle Market
in line with other
markets who do not
benefit from free trading
weeks.

Item
Outdoor Charter Market
Traders:
Half rent charged for
outdoor traders who are
absent with a valid
reason – illness, vehicle
mechanical, family
illness, compassionate
leave

When introduced
Included within the
traders Charter market
licence, is not referred to
in the market rules and
regulations going back to
at least 2011

Page 76

Reason
May have been the rate
to recoup costs erecting
the stalls with the old
arrangement. It now
costs more than half for
the stalls to be setup for
the day. SMDC are
charged per stall
irrelevant of whether
occupied by a trader or
not once they have been
ordered. Stalls are
ordered on preceding
Friday for the
Wednesday market

Revenue impact SMDC
Current stall hire fee to
traders is £20 paid in
advance of the market.
Charge to SMDC for
erection of stalls is a
sliding scale of £18.50
reducing to £16.50 based
on number of stalls
erected.
Each absence has a
revenue reduction of £6.50-£8.50.
Approximately 20 per
year = £130 - £170 p.a.

Other impact
Finance: Credit notes are
raised for each trader
estimated cost of £4 per
trader.
If the weather forecast is
poor some traders will
cancel their booking –
illness/mechanical/family
illness on the assumption
it maybe a poor trading
day/cold/wet and only
pay £10 instead of £20
Market: Empty stall
affects the appearance of
the market viability
unless a neighbouring
trader can spread into it.
Administration: Time
administering a credit
note, dealing with the
empty stall and trader
correspondence

Benefit
Small increased in
revenue to SMDC
Smoother administration
and reduced workflow
due to any absences
Encourage trader
attendance, less empty
stalls, market looks
better

Item
Remove cash and cheque
payment options for
traders.
Change traders to direct
debit or online payments

When introduced
Proposed to commence
1st April 2020

Reason
Wednesday and Saturday
Trestle Market and
Butter Market traders
are invoiced quarterly,
Outdoor Charter Market
are invoiced monthly.
Traders have options to
pay the invoice by bank
transfer, direct debit,
credit/debit card online
or pay cash/cheque at
Moorlands House
reception.

Page 77

Payment by Direct Debit
ensures the payment is
allocated to the correct
account, payments are
all collected on the 15th
of the month reducing
administration and we
know within two days if a
payment has not been
collected.

Revenue impact SMDC
Reduced bad debt /
identified sooner.
Reduced time spent
raising invoices/following
up payments.
Cost to receive
payments.
A single cheque costs
£2.33 to deposit (£2
batch charge, £0.08 per
cheque, £0.25 manual
transaction fee) plus
BHPSS service charge.
Cash deposit £0.20/ £100
deposited plus £0.25
manual transaction fee)
plus BHPSS service
charge.
Direct debit costs £0.01,
other automated
deposits (standing order,
over the counter etc.)
costs £0.03
Debit/Credit card online
£0.045 per transaction
plus 0.5% - 2%
transaction fee

Other impact
Removing cash/cheque
payments would require
some leases and licenses
updating to reflect the
change in payment
method.

Benefit
Payment by Direct Debit
or online ensures the
payment is allocated to
the correct account. DD
payments are all
collected on the 15th of
the month so incurs less
administration and we
know sooner if any
accounts are unpaid.

Item
Introduce a £10
administration fee for
issuing or amending a
trader’s concessionary
parking pass and require
5 working days notice for
amendments.
[The fee is inclusive of
VAT so the actual income
retained by the council
would be £8.33]

When introduced
Proposed to commence
1st April 2020

Reason
Traders are given a
parking pass which
grants free or subsidised
parking.
Clearly stated that the
pass is one per stall and
for one vehicle
registration.

Page 78

We have frequent
requests to change
registration or temporary
changes.
The fee would be in line
with amendments to
other Council issued
passes

Revenue impact SMDC
There isn’t a record of
how many amendments
are made.
Amends: Estimate 50 per
year £500 surplus. See
comments in Other
impact the introduction
of the fee and 5 days
notice may reduce the
number of amends
drastically.
New Pass: Approx. 65
passes to SMDC traders
issued £650 income
18 passes to Archer Fairs
issued £180
Potential Total: £690 for
new passes and £420 for
amendments

Other impact
Administration: Parking
and markets
administration amending
parking passes is time
consuming. Traders have
got into the habit of
asking for an amended
parking pass by text the
night before a market.
With an admin fee and
notice period should cut
down on the number of
amendments requested,
especially at short notice.

Benefit
With an admin fee and
notice period we would
expect a reduction in the
number of amendments
requested, especially at
short notice.

Service Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Work Programme 2019/20
Date
5 June 2019

Item

Contact Officer

Overview & Scrutiny Briefing
Growth Strategy

D Larner
D Larner

Homelessness Strategy Update
Development of Leisure Centres
Recycling Services and Performance in the Staffordshire Moorlands

M Walker
A Stokes
A Stokes

Wharf Road and Tunstall Road Masterplan – update and next steps
Acquisition Strategy
AES/ANSA Annual Performance Update
 Presentation from ANSA
 Accompanying Report from Nicola Kemp

S Porru
S Porru

Stalled Development and Affordable Housing
Leisure Centre Options
Leisure Centre Performance Update
Leek Markets Income Improvements

S Porru
N Kemp
Parkwood Rep
S Porru

Education/ Media Strategy on Dog Fouling
Cheadle Masterplan/High Street Issues
Progress Report on the Councils Strategy for Physical Activity and Sport

D Smith/M Sollis/T
Cooper
S Porru
R Wilks

Review of the Growth Strategy
Mill Regeneration

S Porru
S Porru

3 July 2019

25 Sep 2019

Page 79

20 Nov 2019

29 Jan 2020

Agenda Item 12

18 March 2020

TBC
Monitor new arrangements re AES Phase 3 – Street Cleansing & Grounds
Maintenance

A Stokes

Page 80

Agenda Item 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

